STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The petitioner, MARVIN REED, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The respondent, State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee on direct appeal. The parties will be referred to as they appeared below. The symbol "R" will be used to designate documentary evidence and pleadings contained within the record on appeal. "TR" will represent the transcripts of trial proceedings. An appendix, described as "A", is attached hereto containing a conformed copy of the transcript of the hearing held on the defendant' motion for discharge.

Reed was arrested and taken into custody on January 4, 1991. An information was filed charging him only with two counts of leaving the scene of an accident. [R1-2] Exactly 174 days later, on June 27, [1991], the State announced a nol pros. [A 19] On July 15, 1992, 192 days after his arrest, Reed filed a motion for discharge pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191. [R 59] On September 6, 1991, 245 days after Reed's arrest, the State refiled charges against Reed resurrecting its abandoned prosecution and adding four additional life felony counts. [R 3-9] A hearing was held on December 13, 1991, whereafter the trial court ruled that Reed's motion for discharge was a nullity and ordered the motion stricken. [A 17-29]

Reed filed a suggestion for writ of prohibition generating case number 92-201 in the District Court of Appeal. The District Court entered an order of denial on March 19, 1992. On May 6, 1992, Reed was charged in the last of a series of informations with two counts of aggravated battery [Counts I and II], two counts of armed robbery [Counts IV-VII], three counts of kidnapping [Counts XI-XI], and two counts of leaving the scene of an accident involving personal injury [Counts XII-XIII]. [R 18-30] A trial by jury commenced on May 11, 1992. The State ultimately nol prossed Counts I and VII. The jury found the defendant guilty of Counts IV, V, X, XI, XII, and XIII and not guilty of Counts II, III, VI, VIII, and IX. [R 94-104]

The trial court sentenced the defendant as an habitual violent felony offender to concurrent terms of life imprisonment on Counts IV, V, X, and XI and to concurrent five year terms of imprisonment on Counts XII and XIII. [R 106-109] In addition, the Court ordered a 15 year minimum mandatory term of imprisonment and restitution in the total amount of \$296,000.00. [R 109-110]

The defendant prosecuted a timely appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal. He presented three issues including the denial of his motion for discharge and his right to a speedy trial.

On June 15, 1993, the Third District issued a per curiam affirmance relying on <u>State v. Dorian</u>, 619 So.2d 311 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (en banc) and two other cases not germane to Reed's speedy trial claim. Reed filed a timely motion for rehearing challenging the Court's reliance on <u>Dorian</u>. During the pendency of Reed's motion for rehearing, this Court promulgated <u>State v. Agee</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. July 1, 1993). Reed filed a notice of intent to rely on additional authority which crossed in the mail with the

District Court's order denying rehearing on July 13, 1993. In light of <u>Agee</u>, Reed filed a motion for reconsideration of order denying rehearing which the District Court of Appeal denied on August 10, 1993.

Reed timely filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction on August 12, 1993. This Court, by order dated November 23, 1993, accepted jurisdiction and dispensed with oral argument. This brief on the merits follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At approximately 9:00 a.m. on January 4, 1991, the Circle K store at 278th Street and US-1 in Naranja, Florida was the target of an armed robbery. [TR 384-389] A gunman approached the counter and hit assistant manager Lorenzo Perez on the head. He told manager Eugenio Menendez to open the safe. [TR 389] After Menendez indicated the safe was on a timer and would take 10 minutes to open, he was beaten about the head with the gun. [TR His wallet containing credit cards and approximately \$12.00 3911 was taken. [TR 400] \$1,200.00 in cash was taken from the safe along with a book of 500 lottery tickets. [TR 411-412] Menendez identified the defendant Reed as the perpetrator who assaulted him with the gun. [TR 448-456]

Civilian witness Michael Ahrenn saw two suspicious black males he had seen in the area before. [TR 519-520] He recorded the license plate number and called 911. [TR 521] Ahrenn followed them in his vehicle and saw them run out of the Circle K and leave in their vehicle. [TR 529]

A BOLO was issued and a chase took place. The defendant crashed on the Florida Turnpike and when he tried to flee was apprehended. Ahrenn was brought to the scene where he identified the vehicle as that which he saw at the Circle K. [TR 528] Ahrenn also identified defendant Reed and his accomplice. [TR 529-530]

Thomas Holcombe testified that he went to the Circle K on the evening of January 4, 1991, to buy gas. [TR 568] When he

approached the clerk, the person behind the counter ordered him to the back room. [TR 569] A gunman kept him and another person in the room while he robbed them of their jewelry. [TR 570-571] Holcombe was brought to the accident scene where he identified the perpetrators. At trial he identified defendant Reed as the gunman who robbed him. [TR 575]

Gary Ellenburg, also a Circle K customer, was directed to the rear room when he arrived to buy a magazine. [TR 586] He, too, surrendered jewelry to the gunmen. [TR 589] Ellenburg identified both perpetrators at the scene of the accident. [TR 591-592]

Lieutenant Milton Brelsford saw the defendant driving a Lincoln Towncar northbound on the Florida Turnpike. [TR 636-637] Defendant Reed was holding currency in his outstretched left hand. [TR 638] Brelsford used his red and blue lights on his marked police car and tried to stop the vehicle at the toll booth. [TR 640] Instead, the vehicle fled and a chase ensued. [TR 641] The passenger threw a bag out the window. Defendant Reed exited at 216th Street and caused an injury accident involving two other vehicles. [TR 642] Defendant Reed dove out the window of his car and ran northbound. [TR 643] Brelsford gave chase and caught the defendant. [TR 644]

Police later recovered a white plastic bag containing two brushes and deodorant. [TR 676] The bag, with "Circle K" written on it was recovered and found to contain a quantity of currency inside plastic drop containers. [TR 873]

A .357 Magnum revolver and live Smith & Wesson rounds were

found near the Lincoln at the scene of the crash. [TR 686] Lottery tickets and Circle K money orders were found in the vehicle. [TR 693-694] A bag of currency was also recovered. [TR 695] Menendez identified defendant Reed in a photographic lineup. [TR 762-763] Two wedding bands and a watch were seized from defendant Reed's pocket. [TR 870]

After his arrest, upon being Mirandized, the defendant allegedly said, "You've got us cold. We did it and you know it, and I'm not going to say anything more." [TR 905-906]

Marvin Reed testified at trial that on the morning of January 4, 1992, he and his co-defendant, McMillian, picked a man up who was supposed to repair the brakes and cooling system on his 1978 Lincoln. [TR 968-977] They went to a shopping center where the defendant parked his car and entered a drug store to buy aspirin for his ill son. [TR 974-978] McMillian and the mechanic exited the car and walked in the other direction. McMillian said he was going to get a soda and if he did not return by the time Reed was done, to pick him up around the store. [TR 980] Reed returned to his car and drove to the Circle K where, upon entering, he saw two people injured, lying on the floor behind the counter. [TR 982] McMillian had a bag and was getting something out of the safe. Reed left the store, entered his car, and McMillian followed as the defendant backed out. McMillian told him to get on the expressway. He had a bag and a pistol. [TR 983-984] Reed and McMillian began arguing over the fact McMillian had robbed the store. [TR 985]

Reed explained that when confronted by Lieutenant Brelsford at

the toll plaza, McMillian pointed the gun at him and told him to "dip" or leave. [TR 985-986] According to Reed, McMillian threw the bag as well as his weapon out of the window of the car as they fled away. Reed told McMillian he was getting off the expressway and as he exited, McMillian grabbed the steering wheel and mashed the accelerator with his left foot, causing the accident. [TR 986-988] According to Reed, he crawled out of the car fearing it would The police came, called him a name, and split his head explode. with the butt of a qun. [TR 988] Reed denied fleeing the scene of the accident. [TR 989] He testified that the jewelry recovered was all found on McMillian, not him. [TR 990] Reed denied that he read his rights and said he was beaten during ever was interrogation. He testified that he told the police he had nothing to do with the robbery. [TR 994-1002]

Co-defendant Kevin McMillian, having pled no contest in return for a 20 year prison sentence, testified that he, alone, robbed the Circle K. [TR 1089-1095] When Reed arrived and saw what McMillian was doing, Reed was upset with him and argued with him about what he had done. [TR 1096-1098] McMillian explained that he caused the accident by mashing the gas pedal himself. [TR 1100-1101] McMillian, too, said he was threatened and slapped by the police. [TR 1105-1106]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State initially charged Reed with the relatively minor offenses of two counts of leaving the scene of an injury accident. One hundred seventy-four (174) days after Reed's arrest, one day prior to the expiration of the speedy trial period of Rule 3.191, the State announced a nol pros. Approximately three months later, the State resurrected its prosecution of Reed, adding a number of much more serious life felonies, including several counts of aggravated battery, kidnapping, and armed robbery.

The defendant was denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial as well as his right to a speedy trial pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191. The State subverted the purpose and intent of the speedy trial rule by filing a nol pros on the 174th day following the defendant's arrest and custody. The defendant, thereafter, filed a timely Motion for Discharge pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.191(d)(1). The trial court erroneously deemed the defendant's motion a nullity. Instead, it should have found that the State's nol pros was a nullity. Accordingly, the trial court should have ordered the defendant's discharge and the District Court of Appeal should have reversed the defendant's convictions.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING AS A NULLITY, RATHER THAN GRANTING, THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DISCHARGE TIMELY FILED AFTER THE STATE'S TACTICALLY MOTIVATED NOLLE PROSEQUI ENTERED 174 DAYS AFTER ORIGINAL CHARGES WERE FILED, THEREBY DENYING HIS RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL GUARANTEED BY FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.191, THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The State resurrected its prosecution of Reed after having initially announced a nol pros on day 174 of the speedy trial period. By its nol pros, the State unilaterally tolled the running of the speedy trial period for a period of time during which it was able to conduct further investigation and ultimately add additional, more serious, charges against Reed. Reed's subsequent, timely filed, Motion for Discharge was improvidently stricken and the State's self-serving and belated nol pros was permitted by the trial court to operate to circumvent the defendant's right under Rule 3.191 to discharge. The State's improper manipulation of the Rule resulted in a denial of due process and vitiated the defendant's right to a speedy trial under the Florida Rule as well as the Florida and United States Constitution. State v. Agee, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. July 1, 1993) controls here. The District Court's stubborn adherence to State v. Dorian, 619 So.2d 311 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), like the trial court's denial of Reed's

motion for discharge, was error.

Reed was arrested and taken into custody on January 4, 1991. An information was filed charging him only with two counts of leaving the scene of an accident even though, at the time of his arrest, he had been positively identified as the perpetrator of all the other offenses with which he was ultimately charged (and from which he was fleeing when he committed the leaving the scene offenses). [R 1-2] Remarkably, exactly 174 days later [one day short of the 175 days giving effect to Rule 3.191(a)], when the case was called for trial, the State filed a nol pros. Only later, having enjoyed an additional two and a half months to investigate and prepare, did the State on September 6, 1991, file an information like the one upon which the defendant was ultimately convicted charging not only the original leaving the scene counts but an additional number of life felonies. [R 3-9] There can be no legitimate question that the State's nol pros was a tactical maneuver which accrued to the unfair benefit of the prosecution.

At the hearing held on December 13, 1991, on the defendant's Motion for Discharge filed on July 15, 1991, the State successfully argued that the defendant's Motion for Discharge was a nullity and the trial court ordered the motion stricken. [A 17-29] Under the circumstances, however, the trial court should have granted the defendant's motion and the State should have been precluded from its prosecution of the defendant.

The defendant's Motion for Discharge was timely filed. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191(h) expressly defines the requirements of

MOTION FOR DISCHARGE; TRIAL; WHEN TIMELY

A Motion for Discharge shall be timely if filed and served on or after the expiration of the periods of time for trial provided for herein; however, a Motion for Discharge filed before expiration of the period of time for trial is invalid and shall be stricken upon motion of the prosecuting attorney.

The defendant's Motion for Discharge was served after the expiration of the 175 day period described by Rule 3.191(a)(1). It was not filed before the expiration of that period of time and was, therefore, not invalid or subject to being stricken. As the Third District Court had previously recognized in <u>Wills v. Wilson</u>, 586 So.2d 468 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991):

In this case, the trial court struck the motion. The only provision in these rules which provide for the striking of a Motion for Discharge is where the motion is not timely. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191(d)(1). The Motion for Discharge was timely and, therefore, incorrectly stricken.

By the same token, the tactic of the State misused here to gain a tactical advantage over the defendant and to vitiate his right to a speedy trial is expressly recognized and condemned by the Speedy Trial rule. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191(o) provides:

NOLLE PROSEQUI; EFFECT

The intent and effect of this Rule shall not be avoided by the State by entering a nolle prosequi to a crime charged and by prosecuting a new crime grounded on the same conduct or criminal episode, or otherwise by prosecuting new and different charges based on the same conduct or criminal episode whether or not the pending charge is suspended, continued, or is the subject of entry of a nolle prosequi. As the Court held in <u>State v. Rheismith</u>, 362 So.2d 698 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978):

The object of the speedy trial rule is to insure, absent certain specified circumstances, that defendants will be brought to trial within time periods prescribed by the rule. If prosecutors were permitted to unilaterally suspend the prescribed time periods simply by use of nolle prosequi, the rule would be meaningless.

The courts in <u>Fyman v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) and <u>State v. McDonald</u>, 538 So.2d 1352, 1353 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) reaffirmed the tenet that the State cannot avoid the intent and effect of this rule, and engineer its own extension of speedy trial time limits, by dropping one set of charges and later refiling different charges arising from the same criminal episode.

Similarly, the Court in <u>State v. Agee</u>, 588 So.2d 600 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) reasoned:

A prosecutor nearing the end of speedy trial period, but wishing to delay the trial, could enter nolle prosequi, take the additional months or years desired, and then file a new information. The prosecution would merely be required to commence the trial within 15 days following the refiling the charges. <u>Id</u>. at 603.

* * *

...(h)(2) was adopted for the purpose of avoiding this result... <u>Id</u>.

* * *

case before us does not involve The prosecutorial oversight in failing to timely bring an active case to trial. Rather, it involves а conscious decision by the prosecutor to enter a nolle prosequi, followed by the prosecutor's conscious decision, almost two years later, to reinstate the case. Rule

3.191(i)(3) was not adopted to aid such a prosecutor, and we decline to so apply it in this case. Id. at 604.

While the time period here is less than in <u>Agee</u>, the circumstances are the same and, <u>ipso facto</u>, so should be the resolution of the issue. The <u>Agee</u> Court correctly reasoned that the State's conduct effected an abandonment of the case:

> ... the State had only one option under the Rule to preserve its right to proceed against the appellee in the future. That was to secure an order extending speedy trial due to exceptional circumstances. When the State chose to enter a nolle prosequi, rather than move for an order extending the speedy trial, the State effectively abandoned the case. <u>Id</u>. at 604.

Dorian, upon which the District Court relied, involved the good faith exception to the speedy trial rule under circumstances where the State, unable to locate its witnesses, nol prossed a first degree murder indictment in good faith. No contrary claim was made by the defendant in <u>Dorian</u>. Here, to the contrary, the State had no intent to "drop the charges" as it did in <u>Dorian</u>. The State never complained, for any reason, that it was unable to proceed at the initial trial setting on June 27, 1991. What it clearly did do, however, was fail to file an information containing all the offenses it wanted to prosecute against the defendant.

This Court in <u>Agee</u>, <u>supra</u>, having granted conflict jurisdiction, resolved the conflict which had existed between the First District <u>Agee</u>, <u>supra</u>, which Reed consistently argued in support of his prayers for relief, and <u>State v. Dorian</u>, <u>supra</u>, upon which the Third District predicated its decision. This Court

approved Agee and disapproved Dorian. (Overton, J., dissented)

The circumstances of <u>Agee</u> are materially indistinguishable from those in the case at bar. There, the State argued that the speedy trial rule was inapplicable during the period after entry of a nol pros and before charges are refiled and that a nol pros removed a defendant from the "accused" category and placed him or her in the same position as any other suspect in a criminal investigation. It should be noted, that in <u>Agee</u>, unlike the case at bar, the State had a legitimate reason to nol pros in light of the fact that its attempted murder victim was comatose and there were no known eye witnesses.

This Court rejected the State's argument and held:

To allow the State to unilaterally toll the running of the speedy trial period by entering a nol pros would eviscerate the rule - a prosecutor with a weak case could simply enter a nol pros while continuing to develop the case and then refile charges based on the same criminal episode months or even years later, thus effectively denying an accused the right to a speedy trial while the State strengthens its case. [Id. at S392]

This Court discussed both the purpose of the rule ("to promote the efficient operation of the court system and to act as a stimulus to prosecutors to bring defendants to trial as soon as practicable, thus minimizing the hardships placed upon accused persons awaiting trial") and the legitimate options available to the State (postponing arrest or seeking a speedy trial extension for good cause).

Here, there is no question that the subsequent robbery, aggravated battery, and kidnapping charges filed against Reed after the State's nol pros were based on the same occurrence as the original charges of leaving the scene of an accident, just as the new and old charges, although different, were related in <u>Agee</u>. In short, <u>Dorian</u> which has been disapproved, should not have controlled the resolution of Reed's claim.

CONCLUSION

The defendant's right to a speedy trial was not honored in this case. In fact, it was deliberately abridged by the State by an expressly prohibited tactic designed by the State to garner an improper tactical advantage at the expense of the defendant's right to a speedy trial. By failing to recognize the unfairness of the State's manipulation of the Rule the trial court denied the defendant due process as well as his right to a speedy trial constitutionally and under the Rule. Those violations should be revisited, acknowledged, and remedied by this Honorable Court.