IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

7

CASE NO. 82,217

DCA CASE NO. 92-1972

MARVIN REED,

Defendant/Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CHARLES M. FAHLBUSCH Florida Bar No. 0191948 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Suite 505-South 4000 Hollywood Boulevard Hollywood, Florida 33021 (305) 985-4795

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The charges of which the defendant was convicted in this case, with two minor exceptions, did not arise from the same conduct or criminal episode as the crimes which were nolle prossed by the state. Therefore, this case is clearly distinguishable from <u>State v. Agee</u>, 622 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993) and the Rules of Criminal Procedure did not, and do not require that the defendant be discharged.

The law of Florida is clear that flight from a crime is not, for speedy trial purposes, part of the same criminal episode as the substantive crime, itself. Thus, where the crimes which were nolle prossed were solely those which took place during the flight (even viewing the evidence in light most favorable to the defense), it can not reasonably be held to have violated the defendant's speedy trial rule rights with regard to substantive crimes with which he had never been charged.

The district court, with the exception of the two leaving the scene charges, was correct.

-11-

ARGUMENT

THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT IMPROPERLY DENIED A SPEEDY TRIAL AS TO CHARGES INITIATED SUBSEQUENT TO A NOLLE PROSEQUI OF OTHER CHARGES. (Restated).

The defendant was arrested on January 4, 1991 (R. 59)¹ and, shortly thereafter, was charged with 2 Counts of Leaving the Scene of an Accident Involving Personal Injury. (R. (1-2). These were the only charges pending against the defendant at the time of the nolle prosequi. (R. 1-9, App. 19). Nevertheless, the essence of the defense position is that, when the State nolle prossed the leaving the scene charges (and speedy trial time ran as to them and a motion for discharge was filed), they lost their ability to prosecute not only the leaving the scene charges, but all of the robbery-related charges. (Petitioner's Brief, 9-15). That is despite the fact that the robberies involved a situation that had taken place at a different location from the accident, had different victims than the accident and involved different witnesses than the accident. (T.). It is respectfully submitted that the defense is incorrect.

-12-

¹ It appears that the defense neither alleged nor proved what charges the defendant was arrested on. (R. 59, App.). However, the undersigned believes that it was for armed robbery.

It is certainly true that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191(h)(2)(1992) provides:

(2) Nolle Prosequi; Effect. The intent and effect of this Rule shall not be avoided by the State by entering a nolle prosequi to a crime charged and by prosecuting a new crime grounded on the same conduct or criminal episode, or otherwise by prosecuting new and different charges <u>based on the same</u> <u>conduct or criminal episode</u> whether or not the pending charge is suspended, continued, or is the subject of entry of a nolle prosequi. (emphasis added).

Thus, when the language of this rule is combined with the recent reasoning of <u>State v. Agee</u>, 622 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993)(which didn't, of course, exist at the time that the district court rendered its opinion), it is clear that the 2 counts of Leaving the Scene of an Accident with Injury were dischargeable. However, the entire defense analysis as to the other charges is based on a fallacious statement of law, given without reference to any legal authority, that, "Here, there is no question that the subsequent robbery, aggravated battery, and kidnapping charges filed against Reed after the State's nol pros were based on the same occurrence as the original charges of leaving the scene of an accident. . . ." (Petitioner's Brief, 14-15). Based upon this "leap of faith," the Petitioner finds this situation indistinguishable from <u>Agee</u>. (Petitioner's Brief, 14)).

-13-

The starting point for the correct analysis of the speedy trial situation regarding this case is the holding that, "an arrest in which no charge is made does not commence the period in which a speedy trial is required . . . " Snead v. State, 346 So. 2d 546, 547 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); cert. denied, 348 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1976). Thus, the fact that a defendant was picked up, taken to jail and questioned about a robbery and assault in which one of the victims died did not begin the running of the speedy trial period on the murder, which was held to begin to run some 18 months later, when the defendant was indicted for Thus, even prior to the adoption of the speedy the murder. Id. trial rule, it is understandable why the court would hold that the fact that the State was cognizant of the instant charge at the time that the defendant was arrested did not begin the running of the time for the constitutional right to speedy trial. State v. De Santos, 251 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971). Similarly, where a defendant was charged with two separate and distinct crimes which were committed at different times (albeit regarding they both concerned false statements the same allegedly stolen jewelry; one a false police report and the other a false insurance claim presented four days later), his being held to answer charges on the first crime had no impact, for speedy trial purposes, on his arrest for the second crime. State v. Deratany, 410 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). Also enlightening is the fact that, when an accused who was in custody on another offense confessed to a burglary, speedy trial

-14 -

time did not begin to run until some two months later, when he was formally charged with the burglary. <u>Giglio v. Kaplan</u>, 392 So. 2d 1004 (4th DCA 1981); <u>See also</u>, <u>United States v. Sanchez</u>, 722 F.2d 1501 (11th Cir. 1984); <u>cert. denied</u>, 467 U.S. 1208 (1984).

The fact that the defendant was in flight from the robbery, at least arguably, at the time of the accident does not make the defense claim valid. The court, in a case involving charges of vehicular homicide, leaving the scene of an accident and driving while license suspended (all involving the same accident and flight from it) stated the issue as follows:

> The issue on appeal is whether the crimes of vehicular homicide and leaving the scene of an accident arose from the same criminal episode. If they did then reversal is required because the time periods under the speedy trial rule begin to run when the accused "is taken into custody as a result of the conduct or criminal episode giving rise to the crime charged." Fla.R.Crim.P.3.191(a)(1).

> Walker v. State, 390 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980).

The court answered that question as follows:

The accident itself was one criminal episode. From it the manslaughter Nothing that happened charge arose. subsequently had any effect on that conduct or that criminal charge. When appellant fled the scene he committed an crime. entirely separate, unrelated This was new and different conduct. It independent criminal episode. was an (emphasis added).

This distinction, between the crime and flight from the crime, was clarified and used to the disadvantage of the State in <u>Carter v. State</u>, 432 So. 2d 797 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 440 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1983), in which the court said:

The state's reliance on Walker v. State, 390 So.2d 411 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), In the Walker case, the is misplaced. defendant was involved in a vehicular accident and as a result was charged with vehicular homicide, leaving the scene of an accident, and driving while his license was revoked. In that case, the accident, as in the case sub judice, was one criminal episode. When the defendant left the scene of the accident, it was an independent episode that had no effect on the conduct or criminal charge of vehicular homicide or driving while license was suspended or revoked. In the case sub judice, both offenses arose from the same conduct and the same criminal episode.

Id. at 798.

Additionally, the fact that the police originally approached a defendant to investigate suspected cocaine possession and, in fact, discovered cocaine on him did not require that the speedy trial period begin to run on the cocaine charge where the defendant was arrested and initially charged only with battery of a police officer. <u>State v. Lynch</u>, 445 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). It is settled that the State need not charge a defendant with all crimes of which it has probable cause or risk dismissal under the speedy trial rule. <u>State v. Stanley</u>, 399 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); rev. denied, 408 So. 2d 1095

Id.

(Fla. 1981). Further, it has been held that, where the crimes concerned involved different times, locations and victims (as they do in this case), they did not involve the, "same conduct or criminal episode" for purposes of the speedy trial rule. State v. Van Winkle, 407 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); See also, Rivers v. State, 425 So. 2d 101, 106 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); rev. denied, 436 So. 2d 100 (Fla. 1983).

The Petitioner in this case cannot rely on alleging that the defendant was arrested for robbery so that speedy trial time began to run on the robbery related charges for three reasons. First, that was not a fact ever alleged or presented to the trial court. (R. 59, App.). Second, rule 3.191(h)(2)(1992), the rule on the effect of a nolle prosequi states:

> (2) Nolle Prosequi; Effect. The intent and effect of this Rule shall not be avoided by the State by entering a nolle prosequi to a crime charged and by prosecuting a new crime grounded on the same conduct or criminal episode, or prosecuting otherwise by new and different charges based on the same conduct or criminal episode whether or not the pending charge is suspended, continued, or is the subject of entry of a nolle prosequi. (emphasis added).

This rule, which lies at the heart of <u>State v. Agee</u>, 622 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993), can not possibly be applied to cases such as this in which, based on the above analysis, <u>the new charges were</u> not based on the same conduct or criminal episode as the

-17-

original leaving the scene charges. Third, an arrest which does not result in a charge does not commence the running of the speedy trial rule. <u>Snead v. State</u>, 346 So. 2d 546 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); <u>cert. denied</u>, 348 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1977). [The fact that the defendant was charged with leaving the scene after his initial arrest is similar to the defendant in <u>Snead</u> having been arrested and held on an unrelated charge after his initial arrest to investigate the murder on which he was indicted approximately 1½ years later]

To say that this case is distinguishable from Agee is a vast understatement. Additionally, however, there are significant policy reasons why Agee should not be applied to situations such as this. It would mean that, whenever there was a crime spree case, as soon as the suspect was arrested for any of the crimes involved in the spree, speedy trial time would begin to run as to all such crimes. Thus the State would be deprived of investigative time which might well be necessary as to some of the crimes involved in the spree (which might well be the more serious crimes) or be faced with the undesirable (and pragmatically impossible) alternative of being unable to arrest the defendant for any of the crimes involved in the spree.

Certainly, there could be no credible allegations of constitutional speedy trial violations where the defense never even attempted to show that the delay was unreasonable or

-18-

prejudiced the defense in any way. (App.). See, United States v. Gonzalez, 671 F.2d 441 (11th Cir. 1982); cert. denied, 456 U.S. 994 (1982); State v. Condon, 444 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Gallego v. Purdy, 415 So. 2d 166 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). Additionally, it should be noted that, although the defense repeatedly alleges that the nolle prosequi was for tactical advantage and the state was unable to give a good faith basis for it (Petitioner's Brief, 9-15), they have been unable to cite any record support for either of these allegations. The simple reason for this is that the trial court ruled before either of these issues became relevant, making it unnecessary and rather absurd for the State to have attempted to present any evidence as to them. (App.).

Except as to the two counts of Leaving the Scene of and Accident With Injury, the district court properly found that the speedy trial rule did not require the defendant's discharge on the crimes of which he was convicted.

The defendant was not deprived of his rights to a speedy trial.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and authorities, the decision of the district court, except as to the leaving the scene charges, should clearly be affirmed.